i An update to this article is included at the end

Transfusion Medicine Reviews 31 (2017) 154-164



Emerging Infectious Diseases and Blood Safety: Modeling the Transfusion-Transmission Risk



Philip Kiely ^{a,b,*}, Manoj Gambhir ^b, Allen C Cheng ^{b,c}, Zoe K McQuilten ^b, Clive R Seed ^a, Erica M Wood ^b

^a Australian Red Cross Blood Service, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

^b Department of Epidemiology and Preventive Medicine, School of Public Health and Preventive Medicine, Monash University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

^c Department of Infectious Diseases, Alfred Health, Australia

ARTICLE INFO

Available online 15 May 2017

Keywords: Emerging infectious diseases Blood safety Risk modeling Zika virus

ABSTRACT

While the transfusion-transmission (TT) risk associated with the major transfusion-relevant viruses such as HIV is now very low, during the last 20 years there has been a growing awareness of the threat to blood safety from emerging infectious diseases, a number of which are known to be, or are potentially, transfusion transmissible. Two published models for estimating the transfusion-transmission risk from EIDs, referred to as the Biggerstaff-Petersen model and the European Upfront Risk Assessment Tool (EUFRAT), respectively, have been applied to several EIDs in outbreak situations. We describe and compare the methodological principles of both models, highlighting their similarities and differences. We also discuss the appropriateness of comparing results from the two models. Quantitating the TT risk of EIDs can inform decisions about risk mitigation strategies and their cost-effectiveness. Finally, we present a qualitative risk assessment for Zika virus (ZIKV), an EID agent that has caused several outbreaks since 2007. In the latest and largest ever outbreak, several probable cases of transfusion-transmission ZIKV have been reported, indicating that it is transfusion-transmissible and therefore a risk to blood safety. We discuss why quantitative modeling the TT risk of ZIKV is currently problematic.

Crown Copyright © 2017 Published by Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Contents

Defining Emerging Infectious Diseases – and Why We Can Expect More Outbreaks	155
The Major Transfusion-Relevant Viruses and EID Agents: What are the Differences?	155
Emerging Infectious Disease Agents and Transfusion-Transmission Risk Modeling	156
The Biggerstaff-Petersen Model: The Risk of Asymptomatic Infection in Blood Donors.	156
Description of the Biggerstaff-Petersen Model	156
Applications of the Biggerstaff-Petersen Model	156
The EUFRAT: The Risk of Transmitting Infection	157
Conceptual Basis of the EUFRAT.	158
Applications of EUFRAT	158
BP and EUFRAT Models: From Population Incidence to Donor Incidence	158
Biggerstaff-Petersen and EUFRAT Models: Is It Valid to Compare Outcomes?	159
Zika Virus: A Blood Safety Perspective	160
Zika Virus as a Global Public Health Concern	160
Why ZIKV Represents a Potential Threat to Blood Safety	160
Conclusion	160
Conflict of interest	161
Acknowledgements	161
References	161

* Corresponding author at: Philip Kiely, BSc (Hons), Australian Red Cross Blood Service, P.O. Box 354, South Melbourne, Victoria 3205, Australia.

E-mail address: pkiely@redcrossblood.org.au (P. Kiely).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tmrv.2017.05.002 0887-7963/Crown Copyright © 2017 Published by Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. Blood supplies internationally are as safe as they have ever been [1]. In most developed countries, the transfusion–transmission (TT) residual risks (RRs) for the major transfusion-relevant viruses, hepatitis B virus (HBV), human immunodeficiency virus types 1 and 2 (HIV-1/2) and hepatitis C virus (HCV) have been reduced to very low probabilities [2,3]. This has been achieved by a combination of community education, non-remunerated voluntary blood donations, pre-donation donor questionnaires designed to elicit risk behaviors, universal donor screening, pathogen inactivation procedures incorporated into the production of plasma-derived products and the availability of pathogen reduction technologies for fresh blood components [2,4-7]. Additionally, most countries perform serological screening for *Treponema pallidum* (syphilis) [8], while a number also screen for antibodies to human T-cell lymphotropic virus types 1 and 2 (anti-HTLV-1/2) [9,10] and bacterial contamination of platelet components [11].

However, over the last 20 years there has been an increasing awareness of the threat to blood safety from emerging infectious disease (EID) agents [12-21]. In this review we provide an overview of how EID agents can be defined, when they represent a potential risk to blood safety and how they differ from the classical transfusion-relevant agents. We then describe and compare the methodological principles and limitations of two models that have been developed and applied to estimate the TT risk of EID agents. Finally, we use Zika virus (ZIKV) as a contemporary case study for assessing the risk of an EID agent to blood safety.

Defining Emerging Infectious Diseases – and Why We Can Expect More Outbreaks

A widely accepted definition of EIDs are "those whose incidence in humans has increased within the past 2 decades or threatens to increase in the near future" [17,22]. This is, perhaps necessarily, an imprecise definition which does not specify the level of past or 'threatened' incidence increase and does not differentiate true increases in incidence from apparent increases due to greater awareness. Additionally, it does not take into account geographical variation whereby an EID agent may be emerging in one region but established in another [23], and the period of 2 decades is somewhat arbitrary. Therefore, in the absence of a precise and universally applicable definition, "emerging" could be applied to infectious diseases on a regional basis taking into account local epidemiology.

Causative agents of EIDs include new or previously undetected agents, as well as known agents that are re-emerging following a period

of low incidence or those for which a disease association has not been previously recognized [17,24,25]. An important class of novel EIDs in humans are zoonotic infections [17,24,26-29], driven in part by the increased human demand for meat and animal products [28]. Once an agent has crossed the species barrier to humans, subsequent transmission may be enhanced by a number of factors, predominately related to human activity (Fig. 1).

While EIDs are not a new phenomenon, the frequency of reported outbreaks has increased in the last 20 years and experts predict that this will continue [17,18,21,26,28-30]. To emphasize this point, the list of 21st century outbreaks already includes, in addition to ongoing outbreaks of West Nile virus (WNV) [31,32], severe acute respiratory syndrome corona virus (SARS-CoV) in China in 2002–3 [33,34], the reemergence of avian influenza virus H5N1 (A(H5N1) [35], chikungunya virus (CHIKV) on La Reunion island in 2005–07 followed by the Western Pacific region in 2012 and the Americas in 2013 [36-39], influenza A virus H1N1 ((A(H1N1)) [40], Middle East respiratory syndrome corona virus (MERS-CoV) in 2012 in the Middle East [41], influenza A virus H7N9 (A(H7N9)) in 2013 in China [42], ZIKV on Yap Is in 2007, the Western Pacific region in 2014 and the Americas in 2015–16 [43] and Ebola virus (EBOV) in West Africa in 2014–15 [44].

From a blood safety perspective, a number of EID agents are known to be, or are potentially, transfusion-transmissible based on the following criteria [17,20,28]:

- able to establish infection in humans and spread within populations
- · infection includes an asymptomatic blood phase
- able to survive during blood processing and storage
- transmissible by the intravenous route
- associated with a clinically apparent disease in at least a proportion of recipients.

The Major Transfusion-Relevant Viruses and EID Agents: What are the Differences?

EID agents are typically less well characterized than the major transfusion-relevant viruses noted above, either because they are newly identified or have been known for some time but not considered



Fig. 1. Why we can expect more EID outbreaks.

a research priority. Therefore EID outbreaks are typically difficult to predict and risk assessments often have a high degree of uncertainty. While the major transfusion-relevant viruses are transmitted human-tohuman without vectors or host reservoirs and have an endemic worldwide distribution, a number of EID agents known to be transfusiontransmissible, including dengue virus (DENV), West Nile virus (WNV), Plasmodium spp. and Trypanosoma cruzi, are primarily vector-borne and have a defined geographical distribution [19]. Due to the focus on the major transfusion-relevant viruses in the 1980s and 1990s, sensitive and specific assays for universal donor screening have been developed and implemented in most countries, and TT risks can be estimated by risk models [45-49]. In contrast, donor screening is not possible for most EID agents as suitable assays have only been developed and approved for a limited number of agents, including WNV [23,50,51], T. cruzi [52], hepatitis A virus (HAV), human parvovirus B19 (primate erythroparvovirus 1) [53-55], DENV [56,57] and Plasmodium spp. [58]. Moreover, even when a suitable assay is available for an EID agent, universal donor screening is not always implemented as it may not be mandated or considered a proportionate response to the perceived level of risk, or not feasible due to inadequate resources.

Emerging Infectious Disease Agents and Transfusion-Transmission Risk Modeling

Estimating the TT risk of pathogens can be an important part of overall risk assessments. While risk estimates necessarily include a measure of uncertainty, they nonetheless provide an indication of the risk level which in turn can be used to inform decisions about the implementation of risk mitigation strategies.

For the classical transfusion-relevant viruses for which universal screening has been implemented, estimating TT risk is well established using models based on two key parameters, the incidence of infection in the donor population (which is known due to universal donor screening) and the infectious window period (the period during which an acutely infected donor may be infectious but not detectable by the screening assay) [59-67]. However, modeling based on incident-window period methodology is not applicable to EID agents for which donor screening has not been implemented as the incidence of infection in the donor population is not known and an assay window period is not applicable. Therefore, alternative risk models have been developed which included estimating the EID incidence in the blood donor population based on the observable (i.e. reported) incidence in the general population.

The Biggerstaff-Petersen Model: The Risk of Asymptomatic Infection in Blood Donors

The first published model for estimating the TT risk of an EID agent was developed by Biggerstaff and Petersen [68,69] (BP model) in response to WNV outbreaks in the US, first reported in Queens, New York city in 1999 [23,70]. WNV is a mosquito-borne flavivirus and TT has been well documented. [23,70-80]. Prior to the implementation of donor screening for WNV in 2003 [23], Biggerstaff and Petersen retrospectively estimated the TT risk of WNV during the outbreak in Queens in 1999 [68] and, subsequently, other regions of the US [69].

The BP model used the reported incidence of WNV neurologic disease (WNND) to derive an estimate of the incidence of asymptomatic infection in the general population which in turn was used to estimate the proportion of donors who were asymptomatic and viraemic. Based on a number of assumptions (Table 1), the estimated proportion of asymptomatic viraemic donors was equated to the *risk of an infected donation entering the blood supply, which in turn was interpreted as the TT risk.* Development of the BP model included both a statistical resampling method (Monte Carlo simulation) for estimating the proportion of the population who were asymptomatically viraemic at any *point in time*, and a formula for estimating the average proportion of asymptomatic viraemic donors *over a specified time period*. More recently, Shang et al. have developed a "hybrid" approach to the BP model, combining the statistical resampling and formula methodologies [81].

Description of the Biggerstaff-Petersen Model

To perform statistical resampling, the required input variables based on the local outbreak data were the:

- number of reported cases of WNND (meningoencephalitis) for the period of observation
- · dates of symptom onset for each reported case, and
- population of the outbreak area.

In addition, a number of variables derived from published historical data were also required:

- · time course of WNV viraemia
- · ratio of WNND cases to total number of WNV infections, and
- · ratio of asymptomatic/symptomatic infections.

Based on the symptom onset dates for the reported WNND cases, the statistical resampling simulated the number of symptomatic viraemic cases at time *t* based on the range of possible viraemic periods prior and subsequent to symptom onset. Further, based on the size of the general population, the ratio of total WNV infections/reported WNND cases and the assumption that infected donors who develop symptoms are only at risk of donating prior to symptom onset, the model derived a risk curve that represented the estimated proportion of asymptomatic cases in the population which was equated to the TT risk of WNV.

The authors also developed a methodologically simpler formula to estimate the average WNV TT risk for a specified time period which provided comparable estimates and has subsequently been applied in a number of published studies (Table 2).

The BP formula can be conceptually expressed as

Average risk =
$$\frac{D_{asym}}{T} * R^* I_p$$

Where D_{asym} is the mean duration of asymptomatic viraemia, taking into account that the asymptomatic viraemic period in the proportion of cases that do not develop clinical symptoms is the entire viraemic period, and for the proportion that develop clinical symptoms it is only the pre-symptomatic viraemic period, *T* is the period of observation, *R* is the ratio of total infections/reported cases and I_p is the population incidence of reported (ie, symptomatic) infections.

As the first term represents the risk of each infected donor presenting to donate while asymptomatic and viraemic, and the product of the second and third terms represents the incidence of all infections (those that develop symptoms and those that remain asymptomatic), the above formula can be expressed as

Average risk =
$$Pr\left(\begin{array}{c} collecting viraemic donation \\ from each asympomatitically infected donor \end{array}\right)^*$$
 (incidence of infection)

Therefore, the BP formula for average risk is an estimate of the risk of collecting an infectious donation from an asymptomatically infected donor during the period of observation.

Applications of the Biggerstaff-Petersen Model

Since its original application to WNV outbreaks in the US, the BP model has been used to estimate the TT risk of DENV in Australia during outbreaks in 2004 and 2008 to 2009 [57,82], CHIKV on La Reunion island in 2005–07 [83], Thailand in 2009 [84] and Italy in 2007 [85], hepatitis A virus (HAV) in Latvia in 2008 [86] and Ross River virus (RRV) in Australia in 2013–14 [87,88] (Table 3). In most of these studies the BP formula for average risk for a defined time period was used rather

Table 1

Assumptions and limitations of the Biggerstaff-Petersen and EUFRAT models

· · · · · ·	00		
	Assumptions common to both models	Additional assumptions for the BP model	Additional assumptions for EUFRAT
Assumptions related to reported case numbers	• <i>Reported</i> incident infections represent all symptomatic infections	• Symptom onset dates for reported (symptomatic) cases are similar to asymptomatic infections	
Assumptions related to blood donor	characteristics	 Donation frequency is constant throughout the period of observation All donors have the same risk of infection, which is constant, during the period of observation Asymptomatic infection does not affect the donation behavior of donors Likelihood of detection of infectious donors by the pre-donation questionnaire is constant throughout the infectious period 	 Donors have the same risk of infection as the general population. Blood components from viraemic blood donors transmit infection with 100% efficiency Donors with symptomatic infections would either not present to donate or would be excluded from donating
Assumptions related to infection	 Historically estimated asymptomatic/symptomatic infection ratio and viraemic periods are applicable to the study population and remain constant during period of observation Relative timing and duration of viraemia is independent of symptom onset time Duration of viraemia is the same for both symptomatic and asymptomatic cases 		 Risk from traveling donors is based on the duration of visit to outbreak/endemic area and time from departure to donating. Traveling donors have the same risk of infection as local inhabitants in outbreak/endemic area. The proportion of donors that develop chronic infections is constant during period of observation.
Limitations	• Input parameters required for both models are often not well defined and contribute to the inherent uncertainty of the models.	 To perform the statistical resampling in the BP model, the dates of symptom onset for reported incident cases are required. The BP model does not take into account the reduction in TT risk related to efficiency of transmission by transfusion, pathogen reduction/inactivation due to blood processing and storage, and recipient immunity. 	 A number of parameters in the EUFRAT model, including the difference in risk of infection between donors and the general population, the proportion of symptomatic cases in the general population that do not seek health care or are misdiagnosed, the TT efficiency of infected end products and the level of immunity in the general population, are typically unknown for EID agents.

than the statistical resampling approach. Presumably this is due, at least in part, to the former being computationally simpler and not requiring the exact dates of symptom onset for reported cases. These studies show that the BP model can be applied to a range of EID agents and demonstrate that regular risk modeling across regions can provide an indicator of changing risk levels over time and geographically, thereby informing decisions regarding the implementation of risk mitigation strategies.

The EUFRAT: The Risk of Transmitting Infection

The European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) has also developed a model for estimating the TT risk of EID agents, referred to as the European Up-Front Risk Assessment Tool (EUFRAT)) [89,90]. The EUFRAT has a web-based interface, the stated aims of which are to assess and quantify the TT risk of an EID during an ongoing outbreak.

Table 2

Applications of the Biggerstaff-Petersen model for estimating transfusion-transmission risk

Pathogen	Country (date of outbreak)	Formula/resampling ¹	Comments	Reference
Chikungunya virus (CHIKV)	La Reunion Island (2005–2007)	Formula	 Proportion of asymptomatic infections based on local seroprevalence data Estimate of symptomatic cases accounts for cases who did not consult a GP Risk estimates did not take into account uncertainty of key parameters Estimates of CHIKV viraemic periods based on DENV Incidence based on clinical definition which may be an overestimate due to misdiagnosis of cases not due to CHIKV 	[83]
Dengue virus (DENV)	Australia (2004)	Formula	 risk modeling used to monitor changes in risk over time 	[82]
Dengue virus (DENV)	Australia (2008–2009)	Formula	 Mean donation frequency used to estimate number of infectious donations Estimated proportion of asymptomatic infections based on the seroprevalence data in outbreak area 	[57]
			 Assumed donors who became symptomatic within a few days after donating would patify the blood corrige and donation would be discarded 	
Chikungunya virus (CHIKV)	Italy (2007)	Resampling	Risk contribution for donors in the 2-day presymptomatic period was regarded as negligible and therefore excluded from modeling	[85]
Hepatitis A virus (HAV)	Latvia (2008)	Formula	• Model incorporated seroprevalence (immunity level) in general Latvian population who were assumed to be immune	[86]
			 Modeling restricted to individuals >18 years (blood donor eligibility) 	
			 Accounted for ALT testing of donors and deferral if levels are high (>90 IU/L) 	
			 Did not take into account exclusion of donors who have a history of contact with HAV-infected individuals 	
Chikungunya virus (CHIKV)	Thailand (2009)	Formula	 Modeled risk estimate of asymptomatic viraemic donors was higher than indicated by donor screening 	[84]
Ross River virus (RRV)	Australia (2004)	Formula	Duration of RRV viraemia in humans based on mouse model	[87]
Ross River virus (RRV)	Australia (2013–14)	Formula	 Demonstrated changing risk levels geographically and over time Duration of RRV viraemia in humans based on mouse model 	[88]

1. Refer to text for details.

P. Kiely et al. / Transfusion Medicine Reviews 31 (2017) 154-164

Table 3 Applications of the EUFRAT model

Pathogen	Country (date of outbreak)	Comments	Reference
Chikungunya virus (CHIKV)	Italy (2007)	Applied both Biggerstaff-Petersen and EUFRAT models and calculations were performed:	[89]
		 using both weekly and average cumulative notified cases using fixed input data and variable distribution values; estimated risk of asymptomatic viraemic infection in donors was very similar by both methods 	
Dengue virus (DENV)	Dutch donors returning form Suriname and Dutch Caribbean (2011–11)	 Estimated the risk of traveling donors: becoming infected while in outbreak area transmitting infection to regionate upon return 	[91]
Chikungunya virus (CHIKV), <i>Coxiella burnetti</i> (Q fever)	ltaly (2007), Netherlands (2007–09)	Extension of EUFRAT. Modeled risk of infection:	[92]
Coxiella burnetti (Q fever)	Netherlands (2007–09)	 prior to time of observation potential risk subsequent to time of observation. Risk modeling for an infection with acute and chronic phases Compared probability of dance being infected as 	[93]
Ross River virus (RRV)	Australia (2013–14)	 compared probability of donor being infected as estimated by EUFRAT and Biggerstaff-Petersen models. Applied both EUFRAT and Biggerstaff-Petersen models Demonstrated temporal and geographical variations in risk. 	[88]

In this section we describe the conceptual basis of the EUFRAT and its reported applications, and then provide a comparative analysis with the BP model.

Conceptual Basis of the EUFRAT

The EUFRAT considers the risk of transmitting an EID agent to a recipient as a series of risks that begin with the risk of blood donors becoming infected. Depending upon how the input variables are grouped, methodologically the EUFRAT can be divided into a logical sequence of four [90] or five [89] steps, each with an associated risk. In our description of the EUFRAT we will consider it as a 4-step process as outlined in the EUFRAT User Manual [90].

The first step estimates the *risk of a donor being infectious at the time of donation* which is assumed to be proportional to the prevalence of infection in the general population. This risk is a function of the length of the infectious period and includes correction factors for the difference between the risk of donors becoming infected compared to the general population (if known) and the proportion of undetected cases. For donors who have returned from an outbreak area, the risk of infection will be proportional to the infection incidence in the outbreak area and the duration of the visit, while the risk of an infected donor remaining infectious until the time of donation will be inversely proportional to the duration of the period from leaving the outbreak area to time of donating.

The second step estimates the *number of donations* derived from infectious donors and incorporates the prevalence of infection in the donor population (from step 1), the mean donation frequency and the probability that an infected donor will be interdicted by a predonation assessment procedure.

The third step estimates *the number of infected donations released for processing into blood components and infected end products* based on pathogen removal or inactivation due to the blood processing procedures and, if implemented, the effectiveness of donor screening and pathogen reduction technology.

The final step is an estimate of the *risk of recipients becoming infected* following transfusion which will depend on the TT efficiency of the agent and the proportion of recipients who are immune to the agent. Additionally, the EUFRAT has the option for defining input parameters as either fixed values or a distribution of values. The latter allows for parameter uncertainty by using Monte-Carlo simulation which determines the value of a parameter by repeat random sampling from a

triangular distribution defined by a plausible range entered by the user [89,90].

Applications of EUFRAT

EUFRAT has been used in a number of reported studies to estimate the TT risk for CHIKV, DENV, *Coxiella burnetii* and RRV (Table 2). In the original description of the EUFRAT, the investigators retrospectively applied it to the 2001 CHIKV outbreak in the Emilia-Romagna region in the north-east of Italy [89]. The results demonstrated how the final estimated risk of transmitting infection to recipients can be substantially less than the estimated risk of asymptomatic infection in blood donors. For example, based on an estimated weekly donor prevalence of 1.07 CHIKV cases per 100 000 (95% CI, 0.38-2.03) donors at the outbreak peak, the actual risk of severe infection in recipients was estimated as 0.0001 per 100 000 donations. While TT risk is typically expressed as the risk of transmitting infection regardless of clinical outcome, this was not specifically reported by the authors.

The EUFRAT has also been used in a non-outbreak area to estimate the TT risk associated with donors returning from an outbreak area [91] and has been extended to retrospectively estimate the TT risk during an outbreak period AND the subsequent (future) risk associated with donors who potentially remain infectious for some time following the end of the outbreak [92].

BP and EUFRAT Models: From Population Incidence to Donor Incidence

Both the BP and EUFRAT models are based on a number of assumptions which are summarized in Table 1. In particular, a number of these assumptions are required to estimate the EID incidence in the eligible donor population based on the incidence in the general population, which is an important part of both models. Firstly, the diagnosis and reporting of symptomatic infections in the general population represents all symptomatic cases. Secondly, published historic data estimating the ratio of asymptomatic/symptomatic infections is applicable to the study population. This ratio is important as it allows the total incidence (symptomatic and asymptomatic) in the general population to be estimated from the incidence of reported symptomatic infections. Thirdly, individuals with symptomatic infections would either not present to donate or would be excluded from donating. In the BP model this assumption is the basis for determining the period for which an infected



donor is at-risk of presenting to donate - the entire viraemic period for

donors who remain asymptomatic and the pre-symptomatic period for those who do develop symptoms. Fourthly, blood donors have the same risk of infection as the general population and therefore the incidence of infection in the blood donor population is the same as that in the general population.

Biggerstaff-Petersen and EUFRAT Models: Is It Valid to Compare Outcomes?

In this section we discuss the validity of comparing outcomes from the BP and EUFRAT models, noting three important methodological differences between the two models [68,69,89,90].

1. Additional risk components of EUFRAT

 $P_d = \left(\frac{I_p}{NT(1-\rho)}\right)D$

As already noted, both the BP and EUFRAT models estimate the risk of asymptomatic infection in donors; however, the EUFRAT incorporates additional risk components: the risk of collecting an infectious donation (steps 1 and 2), blood product-related risks (step 3), and recipient-related risks (step 4).

2. EUFRAT excludes the risk from asymptomatic donors who subsequently develop symptoms

The BP model and steps 1 and 2 of the EUFRAT are methodologically most similar when the assumptions discussed below can be made. It is worth noting that these assumptions are often applicable to EID outbreaks.

Assuming that donors have the same risk of infection as the general population and the period of infectiousness (D) is less than the period of observation (T), step 1 of the EUFRAT can be expressed as

reported infections in the population, *N* is the size of the population
and
$$\rho$$
 is the proportion of undetected infections.
If it is also assumed that the *reporting system is 100% effective*, ie, all

Where P_d is the prevalence of infectious donors, I_p is the number of

symptomatic cases are reported, ρ is effectively the proportion of asymptomatic infections, $(1 - \rho)$ is the proportion of detected (i.e. symptomatic) donors and $1/(1-\rho)$ is the ratio of total infections/ symptomatic infections. Further, Ip/N is the incidence of reported (symptomatic) cases and D/T is the proportion of the observation period that each donor is infectious (i.e. at risk of giving an infectious donation). Therefore, the above equation can then be expressed as

$$P_d = \left(\frac{lp}{N}\right)^* \left(1/(1-\rho)\right)^* \left(\frac{D}{T}\right)$$

If it is further assumed that infection does not include a chronic phase and that donor testing has not been implemented, then the prevalence of asymptomatically infected donors (P_a) , who would therefore not be interdicted, is

$$Pa = (P_d)^*(\rho)$$

For applications based on the above assumptions, the EUFRAT estimate of "prevalence of infectious donors after screening and/or testing" is in fact an estimate of the prevalence of asymptomatic infectious donors who remain asymptomatic for the course of the infection. Therefore, the EUFRAT model excludes the risk associated with asymptomatic donors who subsequently develop symptoms (ie, the pre-symptomatic infectious period). This represents a second difference between the BP and EUFRAT models as the BP model incorporates the risk associated with the pre-symptomatic infectious period. As a consequence, the EUFRAT model could potentially underestimate the risk of asymptomatic infections in donors - the higher the proportion of asymptomatic infections that subsequently develop symptoms, the greater the underestimation.

3. Differences in parameter distributions

A third difference between the BP and EUFRAT models relates to the distributions of the input parameters which may potentially contribute to output differences. As noted, the BP model uses Monte Carlo simulation based on assumed distributions for the pre-symptomatic viraemic period and the duration of the entire viraemic period. The EUFRAT also uses Monte Carlo simulation and defines a triangular distribution for input parameters whereby uncertainty in incidence and prevalence estimates is accounted for by sampling from a beta distribution. This would be expected to affect the uncertainty estimates but have a lesser impact on the mean or median estimate of risk.

Due to these methodological differences, it would be expected that even when using the same data set, there would be differences between the risk estimates derived from the two models, although these differences will be minimized when the assumptions noted above can be made. Direct comparison of TT risk estimates from the BP model and EUFRAT have been reported for three EID outbreaks, either by different investigators in separate studies or by the same investigators as part of a single study. Using the same data set and input parameters, both models have been applied to the 2007 CHIKV outbreak in Italy [85,89] and the Q fever outbreak in the Netherlands in 2007-2009 [93] with very similar risk estimates for each outbreak. A third study comparing the EUFRAT and the BP model was performed for RRV in Australia, also using the same data set and input parameters for both models [88]. Unlike the 2 previous examples, the RRV modeling showed what appeared to be a substantial difference between the risk estimates of the EUFRAT and BP models. For example, the EUFRAT estimate for risk of (asymptomatic) infection in donors (ie, the risk of collecting a viraemic donation) in the state of Western Australia for the 12-month period June 2013 to May 2014 was 1 in 33, 481 (95% CI, 11 415-109 695) compared to the BP model estimate of the risk of collecting a viraemic donation of 1 in 58 657 (uncertainty range, 17 320-232 208). This difference in the risk estimate may be due to methodological differences between the models noted above. The BP modeling was performed using most plausible (with lower and upper) point estimates for viraemic periods and asymptomatic/symptomatic infection ratio while the EUFRAT model estimates were based on assumed distributions for these parameters. Additionally, unlike the BP model, EUFRAT does not take into account the pre-symptomatic viraemic period for the proportion of infections that develop clinical symptoms. However, it should be noted that the most plausible estimate of the BP model was within the 95% CI for the EUFRAT estimate indicating the risk estimates were not significantly different.

Zika Virus: A Blood Safety Perspective

Zika Virus as a Global Public Health Concern

ZIKV is the latest EID agent to be recognized as a potential global health threat [43,94], driven by the unprecedented and ongoing outbreak in the Americas and evidence that ZIKV is a causative agent of a number of neurological disorders, including microcephaly in newborns [95,96]. In February 2016, these concerns culminated in the WHO declaring that the ZIKV outbreak in Brazil constituted a Public Health Emergency of International Concern [97].

ZIKV is a mosquito-borne flavivirus, first isolated in 1947 from a Rhesus monkey in the Zika forest in Uganda and first isolated from a human in Nigeria in 1954 [43,98,99]. Until the ZIKV outbreak on Yap Island in 2007, no major outbreaks had been reported [43,100]. However, a number of ZIKV outbreaks since 2007 have dramatically demonstrated the outbreak potential of the virus. The first reported outbreak occurred on Yap Island in 2007 with an estimated 5000 cases [43,101-103], followed by an outbreak in French Polynesia in May 2013 with an estimated 30 000 cases by May 2014 and subsequent spread to the Western Pacific region during 2014–15 [43,99,103-113]. In early 2015 a ZIKV outbreak was reported in the Americas which remains ongoing and has become the largest ever reported outbreak. As at 14 November 2016, there were 46 countries (excluding the US mainland) in the Americas that had reported active ZIKV transmission [106]. By 2 March, 2017 a total of 548 690 suspected and 205 013 confirmed ZIKV cases had been reported by the Pan American Health Organization in the Americas [114] and 221 cases of locally acquired ZIKV had been reported on the US mainland [115]. In these recent outbreaks outside of Africa, transmission is believed to be primarily a human-mosquito-human cycle with *A. aegypti* as the primary mosquito vector [116]. However, non-vector-borne modes of transmission have been reported: sexual [117-133] including male to male [134] and female to male [135], perinatal and intrauterine [136-144], breast feeding [136,144,145] and blood transfusion [43,146-149].

Why ZIKV Represents a Potential Threat to Blood Safety

The ongoing outbreak of ZIKV in the Americas has raised concerns about the potential risk to blood safety [147,150-155]. Firstly, as noted above, ZIKV has demonstrated an ability to establish infection in humans and spread within human populations. Secondly, an estimated 80% of ZIKV infections do not develop symptoms and symptomatic infection includes a pre-symptomatic viraemic period [102,105,156-160], although the viraemic period appears to be typically brief with relatively low levels of virus [102,105,161,162]. In addition, ZIKV RNA has been detected in asymptomatic blood donors during outbreaks in French Polynesian (2013–14) [105,163], Puerto Rico (April 3–June 11, 2016) [164], Martinique (January to June 2016) [165] and the continental US (May to October, 2016) [166]. Thirdly, there is a general consensus that ZIKV is the causative agent of severe neurological disorders [43,167-171] including microcephaly in newborns [95,96,172-175] and Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS) in the wider population [109,176-179]. Fourthly, there is evidence that ZIKV is transfusion-transmissible as at least four probable TT cases have now been reported, all from Brazil during the current outbreak. [148,149,155,180,181] Therefore, there is now sufficient evidence that ZIKV is a transfusiontransmissible EID agent, similar to the phylogenetically related DENV [56,182-190] and WNV [72-75,77,191,192].

However, accurately modeling the TT risk of ZIKV is currently problematic, due to the uncertainty associated with the required input parameters, and to our knowledge ZIKV TT risk modeling has not been published to date. In Fig. 2 we have summarized the basis for this parameter uncertainty. Nonetheless, in response to the growing evidence that ZIKV represents a threat to blood safety, a number of jurisdictions have implemented risk mitigation strategies as a precautionary or preemptive approach, even though this risk has not been estimated by formal modeling. For example, following the US Food and Drug Administration's (FDA) approval of the use of two investigational blood donor screening assays for ZIKV nucleic acid testing (NAT) under an investigational new drug application (IND) [193,194], it subsequently issued a guidance for industry recommending the implementation of either universal screening of all donations in the US for ZIKV by individual donation (ID)-NAT or pathogen reduction technology for platelets and plasma [195]. It has been noted that this guidance was issued without a formal risk assessment and without stakeholder consultation [152].

Although the ZIKV outbreak in the Americas is now declining, the virus will remain endemic in many countries where it had not previously been reported and future epidemic outbreaks cannot be excluded. Therefore, further research is required to improve our understanding of ZIKV epidemiology and virology which in turn will provide the basis for reliable TT risk modeling.

Conclusion

If the expert consensus is correct then EID outbreaks will continue to occur during the course of the 21st century and pose an ongoing challenge for those with responsibility for maintaining the safety of the blood supply. So that health authorities are able to anticipate and respond quickly to EID outbreaks and potential threats to blood safety, intense ongoing surveillance, epidemiological modeling and risk assessments are essential. Modeling the TT risk of EID agents can be an important part of risk assessments, informing decisions regarding when risk mitigation strategies should be implemented and which strategies are the most appropriate. In this review we have described the methodological principles of two published models for estimating the TT risk of EID agents. An understanding of the methodology that underpins these models will assist investigators in applying them to specific EID outbreaks and interpreting the uncertainty associated with risk estimates.

Conflict of interest

All authors declare, "conflicts of interest: none."

Acknowledgements

Australian governments fund the Australian Red Cross Blood Service for the provision of blood, blood products and services to the Australian community.

References

- Shander A, Lobel GP, Javidroozi M. Transfusion practices and infectious risks. Expert Rev Hematol 2016;9:597–605.
- [2] Dodd R. Transfusion-transmitted infections: testing strategies and residual risk. ISTB Sci Ser 2014;9:1–5.
- [3] Seed CR, Kiely P, Keller AJ. Residual risk of transfusion transmitted human immunodeficiency virus, hepatitis B virus, hepatitis C virus and human T lymphotrophic virus. Intern Med J 2005;35:592–8.
- [4] Goldman M. Donor selection for recipient safety. ISBT Sci Ser 2013;8:54-7.
- [5] Lin CK, Leung JNS, So BKL, Lee CK. Donor selection for blood safety: is it still necessary? ISBT Sci Ser 2014;9:26–9.
- [6] Kwon SY. Pathogen reduction technology is it time? ISBT Sci Series 2016;11: 117–22.
- [7] Di Minno G, Perno CF, Tiede A, Navarro D, Canaro M, Guertler L, et al. Current concepts in the prevention of pathogen transmission via blood/plasma-derived products for bleeding disorders. Blood Rev 2016;30:35–48.
- [8] Kaur G, Kaur P. Syphilis testing in blood donors: an update. Blood Transfus 2015; 13:197–204.
- [9] Murphy EL. Infection with human T-lymphotropic virus types-1 and -2 (HTLV-1 and -2): implications for blood transfusion safety. Transfus Clin Biol 2016;23:13–9.
- [10] Marano G, Vaglio S, Pupella S, Facco G, Catalano L, Piccinini V, et al. Human Tlymphotropic virus and transfusion safety: does one size fit all? Transfusion 2016;56:249–60.
- [11] Pietersz RNI, Reesink HW, Panzer S, Oknaian S, Kuperman S, Gabriel C, et al. Bacterial contamination in platelet concentrates. Vox Sang 2014;106:256–83.
- [12] Chamberland ME, Epstein J, Dodd RY, Persing D, Will RG, DeMaria Jr A, et al. Blood safety. Emerg Infect Dis 1998;4:410–1.
- [13] Chamberland ME, Alter HJ, Busch MP, Nemo G, Ricketts M. Emerging infectious disease issues in blood safety. Emerg Infect Dis 2001;7:552–3.
- [14] Chamberland ME. Emerging infectious agents: do they pose a risk to the safety of transfused blood and blood products? Clin Infect Dis 2002;34:797–805.
- [15] Dodd RY. Current safety of the blood supply in the United States. Int J Hematol 2004;80:301-5.
- [16] Alter HJ. Emerging, re-emerging and submerging infectious threats to the blood supply. Vox Sang 2004;87(Suppl. 2):56–61.
- [17] Stramer SL, Hollinger FB, Katz LM, Kleinman S, Metzel PS, Gregory KR, et al. Emerging infectious disease agents and their potential threat to transfusion safety. Transfusion 2009;49(Suppl. 2):1S-29S.
- [18] Atreya C, Nakhasi H, Mied P, Epstein J, Hughes J, Gwinn M, et al. FDA workshop on emerging infectious diseases: evaluating emerging infectious diseases (EIDs) for transfusion safety. Transfusion 2011;51:1855–71.
- [19] Stramer SL, Dodd RY. Transfusion-transmitted emerging infectious diseases: 30 years of challenges and progress. Transfusion 2013;53:2375–83.
- [20] Stramer SL. Current perspectives in transfusion-transmitted infectious diseases: emerging and re-emerging infections. ISBT Sci Ser 2014;9:30–6.
- [21] Walsh GM, Shih AW, Solh Z, Golder M, Schubert P, Fearon M, et al. Blood-borne pathogens: a Canadian Blood Services Centre for innovation symposium. Transfus Med Rev 2016;30:53–68.
- [22] US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Emerging infectious diseases. EID journal background and goals. https://wwwnc.cdc.gov/eid/page/backgroundgoals. [Accessed 12 March, 2017].
- [23] Dodd RY, Foster GA, Stramer SL Keeping blood transfusion safe from West Nile virus: American red Cross experience, 2003 to 2012. Transfus Med Rev 2015;29: 153–61.
- [24] Laperche S. Definition of emerging infectious diseases. ISBT Sci Ser 2011;6:112-5.

- [25] Mackey TK, Liang BA, Cuomo R, Hafen R, Brouwer KC, Lee DE. Emerging and reemerging neglected tropical diseases: a review of key characteristics, risk factors, and the policy and innovation environment. Clin Microbiol Rev 2014;27:949–79.
- [26] van Doorn HR. Emerging infectious diseases. Medicine (Abingdon) 2014;42:60–3.
- [27] Morens DM, Fauci AS. Emerging infectious diseases: threats to human health and global stability. PLoS Pathog 2013;9:e1003467.
- [28] Heymann DL, Dar OA. Prevention is better than cure for emerging infectious diseases. BMJ 2014;348:g1499.
- [29] Howard CR, Fletcher NF. Emerging virus diseases: can we ever expect the unexpected? Emerg Microbes Infect 2012;1:e46.
- [30] University of Minnesota. Centre for disease research and policy. http://www. cidrap.umn.edu/infectious-disease-topics. [Accessed 12 March, 2017].
- [31] Chancey C, Grinev A, Volkova E, Rios M. The global ecology and epidemiology of West Nile virus. Biomed Res Int 2015;2015:376230. http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/ 2015/376230.
- [32] David S, Abraham AM. Epidemiological and clinical aspects on West Nile virus, a globally emerging pathogen. Infect Dis (Lond) 2016;48(8):571–86.
- [33] Cheng VC, Lau SK, Woo PC, Yuen KY. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus as an agent of emerging and reemerging infection. Clin Microbiol Rev 2007;20: 660–94.
- [34] Yip CW, Hon CC, Shi M, Lam TT, Chow KY, Zeng F, et al. Phylogenetic perspectives on the epidemiology and origins of SARS and SARS-like coronaviruses. Infect Genet Evol 2009;9:1185–96.
- [35] Lai S, Qin Y, Cowling BJ, Ren X, Wardrop NA, Gilbert M, et al. Global epidemiology of avian influenza a H5N1 virus infection in humans, 1997-2015: a systematic review of individual case data. Lancet Infect Dis 2016;16:e108–18.
- [36] Lo Presti A, Cella E, Angeletti S, Ciccozzi M. Molecular epidemiology, evolution and phylogeny of Chikungunya virus: an updating review. Infect Genet Evol 2016;41: 270–8.
- [37] Lo Presti A, Lai A, Cella E, Zehender G, Ciccozzi M. Chikungunya virus, epidemiology, clinics and phylogenesis: a review. Asian Pac J Trop Med 2014;7:925–32.
- [38] Rougeron V, Sam IC, Caron M, Nkoghe D, Leroy E, Roques P. Chikungunya, a paradigm of neglected tropical disease that emerged to be a new health global risk. J Clin Virol 2015;64:144–52.
- [39] Weaver SC, Forrester NL. Chikungunya: evolutionary history and recent epidemic spread. Antiviral Res 2015;120:32–9.
- [40] Neumann G, Kawaoka Y. The first influenza pandemic of the new millennium. Influenza Other Respi Viruses 2011;5:157–66.
- [41] Al-Tawfiq JA, Omrani AS, Memish ZA. Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus: current situation and travel-associated concerns. Front Med 2016:10:111–9.
- [42] Xiang N, Iuliano AD, Zhang Y, Ren R, Geng X, Ye B, et al. Comparison of the first three waves of avian influenza a(H7N9) virus circulation in the mainland of the People's Republic of China. BMC Infect Dis 2016;16:734.
- [43] Musso D, Gubler DJ. Zika Virus. Clin Microbiol Rev 2016;29:487-524.
- [44] World Health Organization. Ebola outbreak, 2014–2015. http://www.who.int/csr/ disease/ebola/en/. [Accessed 12 March, 2017].
- [45] Kleinman SH, Lelie N, Busch MP. Infectivity of human immunodeficiency virus-1, hepatitis C virus, and hepatitis B virus and risk of transmission by transfusion. Transfusion 2009;49:2454–89.
- [46] Allain JP, Stramer SL, Carneiro-Proietti AB, Martins ML, Lopes da Silva SN, Ribeiro M, et al. Transfusion-transmitted infectious diseases. Biologicals 2009;37:71–7.
- [47] Perkins HA, Busch MP. Transfusion-associated infections: 50 years of relentless challenges and remarkable progress. Transfusion 2010;50:2080–99.
- [48] Busch MP. Infectious risks of blood transfusions: recent advances in testing technologies and new approaches to surveillance and decision-making. ISBT Sci Ser 2014;9:276–80.
- [49] Seed CR. Screening and confirmatory testing strategies for the major transfusiontransmissible viral infections. ISBT Sci Ser 2014;9:6–13.
- [50] Zhang W, Wu J, Li Y, Li F, Njoo H. Rapid and accurate in vitro assays for detection of West Nile virus in blood and tissues. Transfus Med Rev 2009;23:146–54.
- [51] Ziermann R, Sanchez-Guerrero SA. PROCLEIX West Nile virus assay based on transcription-mediated amplification. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 2008;8(3):239–45.
- [52] US Food and Drug Administration. Trypanosoma cruzi (*T. cruzi*) (Anti-*T. cruzi* Assay). http://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/BloodBloodProducts/ApprovedProducts/LicensedProductsBLAs/BloodDonorScreening/InfectiousDisease/ ucm126585.htm. [Accessed 12 March, 2017].
- [53] Koppelman MH, Cuijpers HT, Wessberg S, Valkeajarvi A, Pichl L, Schottstedt V, et al. Multicenter evaluation of a commercial multiplex polymerase chain reaction test for screening plasma donations for parvovirus B19 DNA and hepatitis a virus RNA. Transfusion 2012;52:1498–508.
- [54] Muller MM, Fraile MI, Hourfar MK, Peris LB, Sireis W, Rubin MG, et al. Evaluation of two, commercial, multi-dye, nucleic acid amplification technology tests, for HBV/ HCV/HIV-1/HIV-2 and B19V/HAV, for screening blood and plasma for further manufacture. Vox Sang 2013;104:19–29.
- [55] US Food and Drug Administration. Guidance for industry: nucleic acid testing (NAT) to reduce the possible risk of parvovirus B19V transmission by plasma-derived products. http://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/Blood/ucm071592.htm; 2009. [Accessed 12 March, 2017].
- [56] Stramer SL, Linnen JM, Carrick JM, Foster GA, Krysztof DE, Zou S, et al. Dengue viremia in blood donors identified by RNA and detection of dengue transfusion transmission during the 2007 dengue outbreak in Puerto Rico. Transfusion 2012;52:1657–66.
- [57] Faddy HM, Seed CR, Fryk JJ, Hyland CA, Ritchie SA, Taylor CT, et al. Implications of dengue outbreaks for blood supply, Australia. Emerg Infect Dis 2013;19:787–9.
- [58] Reesink HW, Panzer S, Wendel S, Levi JE, Ullum H, Ekblom-Kullberg S, et al. The use of malaria antibody tests in the prevention of transfusion-transmitted malaria. Vox Sang 2010;98:468–78.

- [59] Kleinman S, Busch MP, Korelitz JJ, Schreiber GB. The incidence/window period model and its use to assess the risk of transfusion-transmitted human immunodeficiency virus and hepatitis C virus infection. Transfus Med Rev 1997;11:155-72.
- [60] Weusten JJ, van Drimmelen HA, Lelie PN. Mathematic modeling of the risk of HBV, HCV, and HIV transmission by window-phase donations not detected by NAT. Transfusion 2002;42:537–48.
- [61] Weusten J, Vermeulen M, van Drimmelen H, Lelie N. Refinement of a viral transmission risk model for blood donations in seroconversion window phase screened by nucleic acid testing in different pool sizes and repeat test algorithms. Transfusion 2011;51:203–15.
- [62] Yasui Y, Yanai H, Sawanpanyalert P, Tanaka H. A statistical method for the estimation of window-period risk of transfusion-transmitted HIV in donor screening under non-steady state. Biostatistics 2002;3:133–43.
- [63] Busch MP, Glynn SA, Stramer SL, Strong DM, Caglioti S, Wright DJ, et al. A new strategy for estimating risks of transfusion-transmitted viral infections based on rates of detection of recently infected donors. Transfusion 2005;45:254–64.
- [64] Bish EK, Ragavan PK, Bish DR, Slonim AD, Stramer SL. A probabilistic method for the estimation of residual risk in donated blood. Biostatistics 2014;15:620–35.
- [65] Bruhn R, Lelie N, Busch M, Kleinman S. Relative efficacy of nucleic acid amplification testing and serologic screening in preventing hepatitis C virus transmission risk in seven international regions. Transfusion 2015;55:1195–205.
- [66] Custer B. Risk modelling in blood safety review of methods, strengths and limitations. ISBT Sci Ser 2010;5:294–9.
- [67] an der Heiden M, Ritter S, Hamouda O, Offergeld R. Estimating the residual risk for HIV, HCV and HBV in different types of platelet concentrates in Germany. Vox Sang 2015;108:123–30.
- [68] Biggerstaff BJ, Petersen LR. Estimated risk of West Nile virus transmission through blood transfusion during an epidemic in Queens, new York City. Transfusion 2002; 42:1019–26.
- [69] Biggerstaff BJ, Petersen LR. Estimated risk of transmission of the West Nile virus through blood transfusion in the US, 2002. Transfusion 2003;43:1007–17.
- [70] Murray KO, Mertens E, Despres P. West Nile virus and its emergence in the United States of America. Vet Res 2010;41:67.
- [71] Ulbert S. West Nile virus: the complex biology of an emerging pathogen. Intervirology 2011;54:171–84.
- [72] Transfusion-associated transmission of West Nile virus-Arizona, 2004, MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2004;53:842–4.
- [73] West Nile virus transmission through blood transfusion–South Dakota, 2006, MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2007;56:76–9.
- [74] Montgomery SP, Brown JA, Kuehnert M, Smith TL, Crall N, Lanciotti RS, et al. Transfusion-associated transmission of West Nile virus, United States 2003 through 2005. Transfusion 2006;46:2038–46.
- [75] West Nile virus transmission via organ transplantation and blood transfusion Louisiana, 2008, MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2009;58:1263–7.
- [76] Marka A, Diamantidis A, Papa A, Valiakos G, Chaintoutis SC, Doukas D, et al. West Nile virus state of the art report of MALWEST project. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2013;10:6534–610.
- [77] Fatal West Nile virus infection after probable transfusion-associated transmission-Colorado, 2012, MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2013;62:622–4.
- [78] Meny GM, Santos-Zabala L, Szallasi A, Stramer SL. West Nile virus infection transmitted by granulocyte transfusion. Blood 2011;117:5778–9.
- [79] Murray KO, Walker C, Gould E. The virology, epidemiology, and clinical impact of West Nile virus: a decade of advancements in research since its introduction into the Western hemisphere. Epidemiol Infect 2011;139:807–17.
- [80] Gray TJ, Webb CE. A review of the epidemiological and clinical aspects of West Nile virus. Int J Gen Med 2014;7:193–203.
- [81] Shang G, Biggerstaff BJ, Richardson AM, Gahan ME, Lidbury BA. A simulation model to estimate the risk of transfusion-transmitted arboviral infection. Transfus Apher Sci 2016;55:233–9.
- [82] Seed CR, Kiely P, Hyland CA, Keller AJ. The risk of dengue transmission by blood during a 2004 outbreak in cairns, Australia. Transfusion 2009;49:1482–7.
- [83] Brouard C, Bernillon P, Quatresous I, Pillonel J, Assal A, De Valk H, et al. Estimated risk of Chikungunya viremic blood donation during an epidemic on Reunion Island in the Indian Ocean, 2005 to 2007. Transfusion 2008;48:1333–41.
- [84] Appassakij H, Promwong C, Rujirojindakul P, Wutthanarungsan R, Silpapojakul K. The risk of blood transfusion-associated Chikungunya fever during the 2009 epidemic in Songkhla Province, Thailand. Transfusion 2014;54:1945–52.
- [85] Liumbruno GM, Calteri D, Petropulacos K, Mattivi A, Po C, Macini P, et al. The Chikungunya epidemic in Italy and its repercussion on the blood system. Blood Transfus 2008;6:199–210.
- [86] Perevoscikovs J, Lenglet A, Lucenko I, Steinerte A, Payne Hallstrom L, Coulombier D. Assessing the risk of a community outbreak of hepatitis a on blood safety in Latvia, 2008. Euro Surveill 2010;15:19640.
- [87] Shang G, Seed CR, Gahan ME, Rolph MS, Mahalingam S. Duration of Ross River viraemia in a mouse model-implications for transfusion transmission. Vox Sang 2012;102:185–92.
- [88] Seed CR, Hoad VC, Faddy HM, Kiely P, Keller AJ, Pink J. Re-evaluating the residual risk of transfusion-transmitted Ross River virus infection. Vox Sang 2016;110:317–23.
- [89] Oei W, Janssen MP, van der Poel CL, van Steenbergen JE, Rehmet S, Kretzschmar ME. Modeling the transmission risk of emerging infectious diseases through blood transfusion. Transfusion 2013;53:1421–8.
- [90] Meltzer E, Lustig Y, Leshem E, Levy R, Gottesman G, Weissmann R, et al. Zika virus disease in traveler returning from Vietnam to Israel. Emerg Infect Dis 2016;22:1521–2.
- [91] Oei W, Lieshout-Krikke RW, Kretzschmar ME, Zaaijer HL, Coutinho RA, Eersel M, et al. Estimating the risk of dengue transmission from Dutch blood donors travelling to Suriname and the Dutch Caribbean. Vox Sang 2016;110:301–9.

- [92] Mapako T, Oei W, van Hulst M, Kretzschmar ME, Janssen MP. Modelling the risk of transfusion transmission from travelling donors. BMC Infect Dis 2016;16:143.
- [93] Oei W, Kretzschmar ME, Zaaijer HL, Coutinho R, van der Poel CL, Janssen MP. Estimating the transfusion transmission risk of Q fever. Transfusion 2014;54: 1705–11.
- [94] Sakkas H, Economou V, Papadopoulou C. Zika virus infection: past and present of another emerging vector-borne disease. J Vector Borne Dis 2016;53:305–11.
- [95] Pacheco O, Beltran M, Nelson CA, Valencia D, Tolosa N, Farr SL, et al. Zika virus disease in Colombia - preliminary report. N Engl J Med 2016. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1056/NEJMoa1604037.
- [96] de Araujo TV, Rodrigues LC, de Alencar Ximenes RA, de Barros Miranda-Filho D, Montarroyos UR, de Melo AP, et al. Association between Zika virus infection and microcephaly in Brazil, January to may, 2016: preliminary report of a casecontrol study. Lancet Infect Dis 2016. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3009/16/30318-8.
- [97] World Health Organisation. WHO statement on the first meeting of the international health regulations (2005) (IHR 2005) emergency committee on Zika virus and observed increase in neurological disorders and neonatal malformations. http://www.who.int/mediacentre/news/statements/2016/1st-emergency-committee-zika/en/; 2016. [Accessed 12 March, 2017].
- [98] Faye O, Freire CC, Iamarino A, Faye O, de Oliveira JV, Diallo M, et al. Molecular evolution of Zika virus during its emergence in the 20(th) century. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2014;8:e2636.
- [99] Ioos S, Mallet HP, Leparc Goffart I, Gauthier V, Cardoso T, Herida M. Current Zika virus epidemiology and recent epidemics. Med Mal Infect 2014;44:302–7.
- [100] Weaver SC, Costa F, Garcia-Blanco MA, Ko AI, Ribeiro GS, Saade G, et al. Zika virus: history, emergence, biology, and prospects for control. Antiviral Res 2016;130: 69–80.
- [101] Duffy MR, Chen TH, Hancock WT, Powers AM, Kool JL, Lanciotti RS, et al. Zika virus outbreak on Yap Island, Federated States of Micronesia. N Engl J Med 2009;360: 2536–43.
- [102] Lanciotti RS, Kosoy OL, Laven JJ, Velez JO, Lambert AJ, Johnson AJ, et al. Genetic and serologic properties of Zika virus associated with an epidemic, yap state, Micronesia, 2007. Emerg Infect Dis 2008;14:1232–9.
- [103] Hayes EB. Zika virus outside Africa. Emerg Infect Dis 2009;15:1347-50.
- [104] Wikan N, Smith DR. Zika virus: history of a newly emerging arbovirus. Lancet Infect Dis 2016;16:e119–26.
- [105] Musso D, Nhan T, Robin E, Roche C, Bierlaire D, Zisou K, et al. Potential for Zika virus transmission through blood transfusion demonstrated during an outbreak in French Polynesia, November 2013 to February 2014. Euro Surveill 2014:19.
- [106] US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Zika virus home. All countries and territories with active Zika virus transmission. http://www.cdc.gov/zika/geo/active-countries.html. [Accessed 14 November, 2016].
- [107] European Centre for Disease Control and Prevention. Rapid risk assessment. Zika virus infection outbreak, French Polynesia. http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/ Publications/Zika-virus-French-Polynesia-rapid-risk-assessment.pdf; 2014. [Accessed 12 March, 2017].
- [108] Roth A, Mercier A, Lepers C, Hoy D, Duituturaga S, Benyon E, et al. Concurrent outbreaks of dengue, Chikungunya and Zika virus infections - an unprecedented epidemic wave of mosquito-borne viruses in the Pacific 2012-2014. Euro Surveill 2014;19.
- [109] Cao-Lormeau VM, Blake A, Mons S, Lastere S, Roche C, Vanhomwegen J, et al. Guillain-Barre syndrome outbreak associated with Zika virus infection in French Polynesia: a case-control study. Lancet 2016;387:1531–9.
- [110] Derraik JG, Slaney D. Notes on Zika virus-an emerging pathogen now present in the South Pacific. Aust N Z J Public Health 2015;39:5–7.
- [111] Musso D, Nilles EJ, Cao-Lormeau VM. Rapid spread of emerging Zika virus in the Pacific area. Clin Microbiol Infect 2014;20:0595–6.
- [112] Tognarelli J, Ulloa S, Villagra E, Lagos J, Aguayo C, Fasce R, et al. A report on the outbreak of Zika virus on Easter Island, South Pacific, 2014. Arch Virol 2016;161: 665–8.
- [113] Hancock WT, Marfel M, Bel M. Zika virus, French Polynesia, South Pacific, 2013. Emerg Infect Dis 2014;20:1960.
- [114] Pan American Health Organization/World Health Organization. Zika suspected and confirmed cases reported by countries and territories in the Americas cumulative cases, 2015–2017. Updated as of 2 march 2017. Washington, D.C.: PAHO/WHO; 2017[Pan American Health Organization. www.paho.org. Accessed 12 March, 2017].
- [115] US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Zika virus home. Case counts in the US. January 1, 2015 - march 8, 2017. https://www.cdc.gov/zika/geo/united-states. html. [Accessed 12 March, 2017].
- [116] Vorou R. Zika virus, vectors, reservoirs, amplifying hosts, and their potential to spread worldwide: what we know and what we should investigate urgently. Int J Infect Dis 2016;48:85–90.
- [117] Foy BD, Kobylinski KC, Chilson Foy JL, Blitvich BJ, Travassos da Rosa A, Haddow AD, et al. Probable non-vector-borne transmission of Zika virus, Colorado, USA. Emerg Infect Dis 2011;17:880–2.
- [118] Venturi G, Zammarchi L, Fortuna C, Remoli M, Benedetti E, Fiorentini C, et al. An autochthonous case of Zika due to possible sexual transmission, Florence, Italy, 2014. Euro Surveill 2016;21.
- [119] Hills SL, Russell K, Hennessey M, Williams C, Oster AM, Fischer M, et al. Transmission of Zika virus through sexual contact with travelers to areas of ongoing transmission - continental United States, 2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2016; 65:215–6.
- [120] D'Ortenzio E, Matheron S, Yazdanpanah Y, de Lamballerie X, Hubert B, Piorkowski G, et al. Evidence of sexual transmission of Zika virus. N Engl J Med 2016;374:2195–8.

- [121] Turmel JM, Abgueguen P, Hubert B, Vandamme YM, Maquart M, Le Guillou-Guillemette H, et al. Late sexual transmission of Zika virus related to persistence in the semen. Lancet 2016;387:2501.
- [122] Frank C, Cadar D, Schlaphof A, Neddersen N, Gunther S, Schmidt-Chanasit J, et al. Sexual transmission of Zika virus in Germany, April 2016. Euro Surveill 2016;21.
- [123] World Health Orginisation. Zika virus infection disease outbreak news (07/03/ 2016). http://www.who.int/csr/don/7-march-2016-zika-argentina-and-france/en/ . [Accessed 12 March, 2017].
- [124] World Health Organisation. Zika virus infection disease outbreak news (15/04/ 2016). http://www.who.int/csr/don/15-april-2016-zika-chile/en/. [Accessed 12 March, 2017].
- [125] World Health Organisation. Zika virus infection disease outbreak news (21/04/ 2016). http://www.who.int/csr/don/21-april-2016-zika-peru/en/. [Accessed 12 March, 2017].
- [126] Possible case of sexual transmission of Zika virus Ministry of Health Manatu Hauora. http://www.health.govt.nz/news-media/media-releases/possible-casesexual-transmission-zika-virus. [Accessed 12 March, 2017].
- [127] Government of Canada News. Statement from the chief public health officer of Canada and Ontario's chief medical officer of health on the first positive case of sexually transmitted Zika virus.26/04/2016. http://news.gc.ca/web/article-en.do? nid=1056379. [Accessed 12 March, 2017].
- [128] Freour T, Mirallie S, Hubert B, Splingart C, Barriere P, Maquart M, et al. Sexual transmission of Zika virus in an entirely asymptomatic couple returning from a Zika epidemic area, France, April 2016. Euro Surveill 2016:21.
- [129] Coelho FC, Durovni B, Saraceni V, Lemos C, Codeço CT, Camargo S, et al. Higher incidence of Zika in adult women than adult men in Rio de Janeiro suggests a significant contribution of sexual transmission from men to women. Int J Infect Dis 2016; 51:128–32.
- [130] Musso D, Roche C, Robin E, Nhan T, Teissier A, Cao-Lormeau VM. Potential sexual transmission of Zika virus. Emerg Infect Dis 2015;21:359–61.
- [131] Reusken C, Pas S, GeurtsvanKessel C, Mogling R, van Kampen J, Langerak T, et al. Longitudinal follow-up of Zika virus RNA in semen of a traveller returning from Barbados to the Netherlands with Zika virus disease, March 2016. Euro Surveill 2016;21.
- [132] Mansuy JM, Dutertre M, Mengelle C, Fourcade C, Marchou B, Delobel P, et al. Zika virus: high infectious viral load in semen, a new sexually transmitted pathogen? Lancet Infect Dis 2016;16:405.
- [133] Brooks RB, Carlos MP, Myers RA, White MG, Bobo-Lenoci T, Aplan D, et al. Likely sexual transmission of Zika virus from a man with no symptoms of infection -Maryland, 2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2016;65:915–6.
- [134] Deckard DT, Chung WM, Brooks JT, Smith JC, Woldai S, Hennessey M, et al. Male-tomale sexual transmission of Zika virus - Texas, January 2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2016;65:372–4.
- [135] Davidson A, Slavinski S, Komoto K, Rakeman J, Weiss D. Suspected female-to-male sexual transmission of Zika virus – new York City, 2016. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2016;65:716–7.
- [136] Besnard M, Lastere S, Teissier A, Cao-Lormeau V, Musso D. Evidence of perinatal transmission of Zika virus, French Polynesia, December 2013 and February 2014. Euro Surveill 2014;19.
- [137] Oliveira Melo AS, Malinger G, Ximenes R, Szejnfeld PO, Alves Sampaio S, Bispo de Filippis AM. Zika virus intrauterine infection causes fetal brain abnormality and microcephaly: tip of the iceberg? Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2016;47:6–7.
- [138] Meaney-Delman D, Oduyebo T, Polen KN, White JL, Bingham AM, Slavinski SA, et al. Prolonged detection of Zika virus RNA in pregnant women. Obstet Gynecol 2016; 128:724–30.
- [139] Calvet G, Aguiar RS, Melo AS, Sampaio SA, de Filippis I, Fabri A, et al. Detection and sequencing of Zika virus from amniotic fluid of fetuses with microcephaly in Brazil: a case study. Lancet Infect Dis 2016;16:653–60.
- [140] Sarno M, Sacramento GA, Khouri R, do Rosario MS, Costa F, Archanjo G, et al. Zika virus infection and stillbirths: a case of hydrops fetalis, hydranencephaly and fetal demise. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2016;10:e0004517.
- [141] Driggers RW, Ho CY, Korhonen EM, Kuivanen S, Jaaskelainen AJ, Smura T, et al. Zika virus infection with prolonged maternal viremia and fetal brain abnormalities. N Engl J Med 2016;374:2142–51.
- [142] Panchaud A, Stojanov M, Ammerdorffer A, Vouga M, Baud D. Emerging role of Zika virus in adverse fetal and neonatal outcomes. Clin Microbiol Rev 2016;29: 659–94.
- [143] Martines RB, Bhatnagar J, Keating MK, Silva-Flannery L, Muehlenbachs A, Gary J, et al. Notes from the field: evidence of Zika virus infection in brain and placental tissues from two congenitally infected newborns and two fetal losses–Brazil, 2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2016;65:159–60.
- [144] Grischott F, Puhan M, Hatz C, Schlagenhauf P. Non-vector-borne transmission of Zika virus: a systematic review. Travel Med Infect Dis 2016;14:313–30.
- [145] Dupont-Rouzeyrol M, Biron A, O'Connor O, Huguon E, Descloux E. Infectious Zika viral particles in breastmilk. Lancet 2016;387:1051.
- [146] ProMED-mail. Zika virus Americas, Atlantic Ocean. Pro MED mail 2015; 23 Dec: 20151223.3886435. http://www.promedmail.orghttp://www.promedmail.org. [Accessed 12 March, 2017].
- [147] Musso D, Stramer SL, Committee AT-TD, Busch MP, International Society of Blood Transfusion Working Party on Transfusion-Transmitted Infectious D. Zika virus: a new challenge for blood transfusion. Lancet 2016;387:1993–4.
- [148] Reuters. Brazil reports Zika infection from blood transfusions. 4 February, 2016. http://www.reuters.com/article/us-health-zika-brazil-blood-idUSKCN0VD22N; 2016. [Accessed 12 March, 2017].
- [149] Barjas-Castro ML, Angerami RN, Cunha MS, Suzuki A, Nogueira JS, Rocco IM, et al. Probable transfusion-transmitted Zika virus in Brazil. Transfusion 2016;56:1684–8.

- [150] Marks PW, Epstein JS, Borio LL. Maintaining a safe blood supply in an era of emerging pathogens. J Infect Dis 2016;213:1676–7.
- [151] Franchini M, Velati C. Blood safety and zoonotic emerging pathogens: now it's the turn of Zika virus! Blood Transfus 2016;14:93–4.
- [152] Katz LM, Rossmann SN. Zika and the blood supply: a work in progress. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2017;141:85–92.
- [153] Kashima S, Slavov SN, Covas DT. Zika virus and its implication in transfusion safety. Rev Bras Hematol Hemoter 2016;38:90–1.
- [154] Marano G, Pupella S, Vaglio S, Liumbruno GM, Grazzini G. Zika virus and the neverending story of emerging pathogens and transfusion medicine. Blood Transfus 2016;14:95–100.
- [155] Musso D, Aubry M, Broult J, Stassinopoulos A, Green J. Zika virus: new emergencies, potential for severe complications, and prevention of transfusion-transmitted Zika fever in the context of co-circulation of arboviruses. Blood Transfus 2016. http://dx. doi.org/10.2450/2016.0003-16.
- [156] Calleri G, Burdino E, Bonora S, Raso R, Ghisetti V, Caramello P. Zika virus infection in two travelers returning from an epidemic area to Italy, 2016: algorithm for diagnosis and recommendations. Travel Med Infect Dis 2016;14:506–8.
- [157] Fourcade C, Mansuy JM, Dutertre M, Delpech M, Marchou B, Delobel P, et al. Viral load kinetics of Zika virus in plasma, urine and saliva in a couple returning from Martinique, French West Indies. J Clin Virol 2016;82:1–4.
- [158] Maria AT, Maquart M, Makinson A, Flusin O, Segondy M, Leparc-Goffart I, et al. Zika virus infections in three travellers returning from South America and the Caribbean respectively, to Montpellier, France, December 2015 to January 2016. Euro Surveill 2016;21.
- [159] Wu D, Sun J, Zhong H, Guan D, Zhang H, Tan Q, et al. A family cluster of imported ZIKV cases: Viremia period may be longer than previously reported. J Infect 2016;73:300–3.
- [160] Musso D, Rouault E, Teissier A, Lanteri MC, Zisou K, Broult J, et al. Molecular detection of Zika virus in blood and RNA load determination during the French Polynesian outbreak. J Med Virol 2016. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jmv.24735.
- [161] Lessler J, Ott CT, Carcelen AC, Konikoff JM, Williamson J, Bi Q, et al. Times to key events in Zika virus infection and implications for blood donation: a systematic review. Bull World Health Organ 2016;94:841–9.
- [162] Osuna CE, Lim SY, Deleage C, Griffin BD, Stein D, Schroeder LT, et al. Zika viral dynamics and shedding in rhesus and cynomolgus macaques. Nat Med 2016;22:1448–55.
- [163] Bierlaire D, Mauguin S, Broult J, Musso D. Zika virus and blood transfusion: the experience of French Polynesia. Transfusion 2017. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/trf.14028.
- [164] Kuehnert MJ, Basavaraju SV, Moseley RR, Pate LL, Galel SA, Williamson PC, et al. Screening of blood donations for Zika virus infection - Puerto Rico, April 3-June 11, 2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2016;65:627–8.
- [165] Gallian P, Cabie A, Richard P, Paturel L, Charrel RN, Pastorino B, et al. Zika virus in asymptomatic blood donors in Martinique. Blood 2017;129:263–6.
- [166] Galel SA, Williamson PC, Busch MP, Stanek D, Bakkour S, Stone M, et al. First Zikapositive donations in the continental United States. Transfusion 2017. http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/trf.14029.
- [167] Frank C, Faber M, Stark K. Causal or not: applying the Bradford Hill aspects of evidence to the association between Zika virus and microcephaly. EMBO Mol Med 2016;8:305–7.
- [168] Nayak S, Lei J, Pekosz A, Klein S, Burd I. Pathogenesis and molecular mechanisms of Zika virus. Semin Reprod Med 2016;34:266–72.
- [169] Krauer F, Riesen M, Reveiz L, Oladapo OT, Martinez-Vega R, Porgo TV, et al. Zika virus infection as a cause of congenital brain abnormalities and Guillain-Barre syndrome: systematic review. bioRxiv 2016. http://dx.doi.org/10.1101/073098.
- [170] Atif M, Azeem M, Sarwar MR, Bashir A. Zika virus disease: a current review of the literature. Infection 2016;44:695–705.
- [171] Pan American Health Organisation. Regional Zika epidemiological update (Americas) - 14 July 2016. http://www.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com_ content&view=article&id=11599:regional-zika-epidemiological-updateamericas&Itemid=41691&lang=en. [Accessed 12 March, 2017].
- [172] Costa F, Sarno M, Khouri R, de Paula Freitas B, Siqueira I, Ribeiro GS, et al. Emergence of congenital Zika syndrome: viewpoint from the Front lines. Ann Intern Med 2016;164:689–91.
- [173] Watrin L, Ghawche F, Larre P, Neau JP, Mathis S, Fournier E. Guillain-Barre syndrome (42 cases) occurring during a Zika virus outbreak in French Polynesia. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016;95:e3257.
- [174] Ticconi C, Pietropolli A, Rezza G. Zika virus infection and pregnancy: what we do and do not know. Pathog Glob Health 2016;110:262–8.
- [175] Magalhaes-Barbosa MC, Prata-Barbosa A, Robaina JR, Raymundo CE, Lima-Setta F, Cunha AJ. Trends of the microcephaly and Zika virus outbreak in Brazil, January-July 2016. Travel Med Infect Dis 2016;14:458–63.
- [176] Ladhani SN, O'Connor C, Kirkbride H, Brooks T, Morgan D. Outbreak of Zika virus disease in the Americas and the association with microcephaly, congenital malformations and Guillain-Barre syndrome. Arch Dis Child 2016;101:600–2.
- [177] Dirlikov E, Major CG, Mayshack M, Medina N, Matos D, Ryff KR, et al. Guillain-Barre syndrome during ongoing Zika virus transmission - Puerto Rico, January 1-July 31, 2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2016;65:910–4.
- [178] Uncini A, Shahrizaila N, Kuwabara S. Zika virus infection and Guillain-Barre syndrome: a review focused on clinical and electrophysiological subtypes. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2017;88:266–71.
- [179] Munoz LS, Barreras P, Pardo CA. Zika virus-associated neurological disease in the adult: Guillain-Barre syndrome, encephalitis, and myelitis. Semin Reprod Med 2016;34:273–9.
- [180] Outbreak News Today. Transfusion-associated Zika virus reported in Brazil. Posted by Robert Herriman on December 18, 2015. http://outbreaknewstoday.com/transfusionassociated-zika-virus-reported-in-brazil-76935/. [Accessed 12 March, 2017].

- [181] Motta IJ, Spencer BR, Cordeiro da Silva SG, Arruda MB, Dobbin JA, Gonzaga YB, et al. Evidence for transmission of Zika virus by platelet transfusion. N Engl J Med 2016; 375:1101–3.
- [182] Chuang V, Wong TY, Leung YH, Ma E, Law YL, Tsang O, et al. Review of dengue fever cases in Hong Kong during 1998 to 2005. Hong Kong Med J 2008;14:170–7.
- [183] Tambyah PA, Koay ES, Poon ML, Lin RV, Ong BK. Dengue hemorrhagic fever transmitted by blood transfusion. N Engl J Med 2008;359:1526–7.
- [184] Teo D, Ng LC, Lam S. Is dengue a threat to the blood supply? Transfus Med 2009; 19:66–77.
- [185] Sabino EC, Loureiro P, Lopes ME, Capuani L, McClure C, Chowdhury D, et al. Transfusion-transmitted dengue and associated clinical symptoms during the 2012 epidemic in Brazil. J Infect Dis 2016;213:694–702.
- [186] Levi JE, Nishiya A, Felix AC, Salles NA, Sampaio LR, Hangai F, et al. Real-time symptomatic case of transfusion-transmitted dengue. Transfusion 2015;55:961–4.
- [187] Oh HB, Muthu V, Daruwalla ZJ, Lee SY, Koay ES, Tambyah PA. Bitten by a bug or a bag? Transfusion-transmitted dengue: a rare complication in the bleeding surgical patient. Transfusion 2015;55:1655–61.
- [188] Linnen JM, Vinelli E, Sabino EC, Tobler LH, Hyland C, Lee TH, et al. Dengue viremia in blood donors from Honduras, Brazil, and Australia. Transfusion 2008;48:1355–62.
- [189] Mohammed H, Linnen JM, Munoz-Jordan JL, Tomashek K, Foster G, Broulik AS, et al. Dengue virus in blood donations, Puerto Rico, 2005. Transfusion 2008;48: 1348–54.

- [190] Karim F, Nasir N, Moiz B. Transfusion transmitted dengue: one donor infects two patients. Transfus Apher Sci 2016. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.transci.2016.10.013.
- [191] Koepsell SA, Freifeld AG, Sambol AR, McComb RD, Kazmi SA. Seronegative naturally acquired West Nile virus encephalitis in a renal and pancreas transplant recipient. Transpl Infect Dis 2010;12:459–64.
- [192] Winston DJ, Vikram HR, Rabe IB, Dhillon G, Mulligan D, Hong JC, et al. Donorderived West Nile virus infection in solid organ transplant recipients: report of four additional cases and review of clinical, diagnostic, and therapeutic features. Transplantation 2014;97:881–9.
- [193] Food and Drug Admistration. FDA new release, 30 march 2016. FDA allows use of investigational test to screen blood donations for Zika virus. https://www.fda. gov/newsevents/newsroom/pressannouncements/ucm493081.htm. [Accessed 2 May, 2017].
- [194] Hologic. News release. FDA approves use of the Procleix Zika virus assay from Hologic and Grifols to screen the U.S. blood supply under an IND study protocol. http://investors.hologic.com/2016-06-20-FDA-Approves-Use-of-the-Procleix-Zika-Virus-Assay-from-Hologic-and-Grifols-to-Screen-the-U-S-Blood-Supply-Under-an-IND-Study-Protocol; 2016. [Accessed 2 May, 2017].
- [195] U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Revised recommendations for reducing the risk of Zika virus transmission by blood and blood components. Guidance for industry. https://www.fda.gov/downloads/biologicsbloodvaccines/guidancecomplianceregula toryinformation/guidances/blood/ucm518213.pdf; 2016. [Accessed 2 May, 2017].

<u>Update</u>

Transfusion Medicine Reviews

Volume 32, Issue 1, January 2018, Page 66–68

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmrv.2017.07.005



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Transfusion Medicine Reviews

journal homepage:



https://www.journals.elsevier.com/transfusion-medicine-reviews/

Erratum

Erratum to "Emerging Infectious Diseases and Blood Safety: Modeling the Transfusion-Transmission Risk" (*Transfusion Medicine Reviews* 31/3 [2017] 154-164)



Philip Kiely^{a,b,*}, Manoj Gambhir^b, Allen C Cheng^{b,c}, Zoe K McQuilten^b, Clive R Seed^a, Erica M Wood^b

^a Australian Red Cross Blood Service, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia

^b Department of Epidemiology and Preventive Medicine, School of Public Health and Preventive Medicine, Monash University, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia

^c Department of Infectious Diseases, Alfred Health, Australia

(See Tables 1-3.)

The publisher regrets that there are some errors in the format of the tables used in the final version of this article. The publisher includes reformatted versions of the tables below.

The publisher would like to apologize for any inconvenience caused.

DOI of original article: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tmrv.2017.05.002.

* Corresponding author at: Philip Kiely, BSc (Hons), Australian Red Cross Blood Service, PO Box 354, South Melbourne, Victoria 3205, Australia. *URL:* pkiely@redcrossblood.org.au (P. Kiely).

 Table 1

 Assumptions and limitations of the Biggerstaff-Petersen and EUFRAT models

	Assumptions common to both models	Additional assumptions for the BP model	Additional assumptions for EUFRAT
Assumptions related to reported case numbers	• <i>Reported</i> incident infections represent all symptomatic infections.	• Symptom onset dates for reported (symptomatic) cases are similar to asymptomatic infections	
Assumptions related to blood donor characteristics	 Donation frequency is constant throughout the period of observation All donors have the same risk of infection, which is constant, during the period of observation. Asymptomatic infection does not affect the donation behavior of donors. Likelihood of detection of infectious 	 Donors have the same risk of infection as the general population. Blood components from viremic blood donors transmit infection with 100% efficiency. Donors with symptomatic infections either would not present to donate or would be excluded from donating. 	
	donors by the predonation questionnaire		
Assumptions related to infection	 is constant throughout the infectious period. Historically estimated asymptomatic/ symptomatic infection ratio and viremic periods are applicable to the study population and remain constant during period of observation. Relative timing and duration of viremia are independent of symptom onset time. Duration of viremia is the same for both symptomatic and asymptomatic cases. Input parameters required for both models are often not well defined and contribute to the inherent uncertainty of the models. 	• To perform the statistical resampling in the BP model, the dates of symptom onset for reported incident cases are required.	 Risk from traveling donors is based on the duration of visit to outbreak/endemic area and time from departure to donating. Traveling donors have the same risk of infection as local inhabitants in outbreak/endemic area. The proportion of donors that develop chronic infections is constant during period of observation. A number of parameters in the EUFRAT model, including the difference in risk of infection between donors and the general population, the proportion of symptomatic cases in the general population that do not seek health care or are misdiagnosed, and the TT
		• The BP model does not take into account the reduction in TT risk related to efficiency of transmission by transfusion, pathogen reduction/inactivation due to blood processing and storage, and recipient immunity.	etficiency of infected end products and the level of immunity in the general population, are typically unknown for EID agents.

Table 2

Applications of the Biggerstaff-Petersen model for estimating transfusion-transmission risk

Pathogen	Country (date of outbreak)	Formula/resampling ^a	Comments	Reference
Chikungunya virus (CHIKV)	La Reunion Island (2005-2007)	Formula	 Proportion of asymptomatic infections based on local seroprevalence data Estimate of symptomatic cases accounts for cases who did not consult a GP. Risk estimates did not take into account uncertainty of key parameters. Estimates of CHIKV viremic periods based on DENV Incidence based on clinical definition which may be an overestimate due to misdiagnosis of cases not due to CHIKV 	[83]
Dengue virus (DENV)	Australia (2004)	Formula	Risk modeling used to monitor changes in risk over time	[82]
Dengue virus (DENV)	Australia (2008-2009)	Formula	 Mean donation frequency used to estimate number of infectious donations Estimated proportion of asymptomatic infections based on the seroprevalence data in outbreak area Assumed donors who became symptomatic within a few days after donating would notify the blood service, and donation would be discarded 	[57]
Chikungunya virus (CHIKV)	Italy (2007)	Resampling	 Risk contribution for donors in the 2-d presymptomatic period was regarded as negligible and therefore excluded from modeling 	[85]
Hepatitis A virus (HAV)	Latvia (2008)	Formula	 Model incorporated seroprevalence (immunity level) in general Latvian population Modeling restricted to individuals over 18 y (blood donor eligibility) Accounted for ALT testing of donors and deferral if levels are high (>90 IU/L) Did not take into account exclusion of donors who have a history of contact with HAV-infected individuals 	[86]
Chikungunya virus (CHIKV)	Thailand (2009)	Formula	 Modeled risk estimate of asymptomatic viremic donors was higher than indicated by donor screening. 	[84]
Ross River virus (RRV)	Australia (2004)	Formula	• Duration of RRV viremia in humans based on mouse model	[87]
Ross River virus (RRV)	Australia (2013-14)	Formula	 Demonstrated changing risk levels geographically and over time Duration of RRV viremia in humans based on mouse model 	[88]

^a Refer to text for details.

Table 3Applications of the EUFRAT model

Pathogen	Country (date of outbreak)	Comments	Reference
Chikungunya virus (CHIKV)	Italy (2007)	Applied both Biggerstaff-Petersen and EUFRAT models and calculations were performed: • Using both weekly and average cumulative notified cases • Using fixed input data and variable distribution values; estimated risk of asymptomatic viremic infection in donors was very similar by both methods.	[89]
Dengue virus (DENV)	Dutch donors returning form Suriname and Dutch Caribbean (2011-11)	Estimated the risk of traveling donors: • Becoming infected while in outbreak area • Transmitting infection to recipients upon return	[91]
Chikungunya virus (CHIKV), Coxiella burnetti (Q fever)	Italy (2007), Netherlands (2007-09)	Extension of EUFRAT. Modeled risk of infection: • Prior to time of observation • Potential risk subsequent to time of observation	[92]
C burnetti (Q fever)	Netherlands (2007-09)	 Risk modeling for an infection with acute and chronic phases Compared probability of donor being infected as estimated by EUFRAT and Biggerstaff-Petersen models 	[93]
Ross River virus (RRV)	Australia (2013-14)	 Applied both EUFRAT and Biggerstaff-Petersen models Demonstrated temporal and geographical variations in risk. 	[88]